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  Notes 

As at 
December 31,  

2019 

As at 
December 31,  

2018 

       
ASSETS      
Non-current assets      
Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 10 49,834 2,816 
Goodwill 11, 7 140,665 140,446 
Right-of-use assets 2.2 4,942 – 
Other intangible assets 7 19,526 20,759 
Property and equipment 8 8,330 7,050 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 1,749 2,015 
Deferred income tax assets 18 1,774 4,793 
Long-term loans receivable 22 286 110 
Other non-current assets 15 115 1,574 

Total non-current assets  227,221 179,563 

Current assets    
Trade accounts receivable 12 12,288 9,916 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers  978 1,123 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 90 1,072 
Loans receivable 22 655 35 
Other current assets  1,367 1,318 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 9,782 11,723 
    
Assets held for sale 6.2 2,334 32 

Total current assets  27,494 25,219 

Total assets  254,715 204,782 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    
Issued capital   – 
Share premium  60,286 58,482 
Treasury shares 14 (1,152) (286) 
Retained earnings  125,351 106,685 
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)  170 (165) 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  184,655 164,716 
Non-controlling interests  809 259 

Total equity  185,464 164,975 

Non-current liabilities    
Deferred income tax liabilities 18 2,181 2,405 
Deferred revenue 4.2, 17 1,737 12,397 
Non-current lease liabilities 2.2, 23.2 1,568 – 
Long-term interest-bearing loans and borrowings 22.3, 23.2 19,474 – 

Total non-current liabilities  24,960 14,802 

Current liabilities    
Trade accounts payable 23.2 7,863 8,263 
Income tax payable  481 893 
VAT and other taxes payable  1,939 1,430 
Deferred revenue and customer advances 4.2, 17 10,920 8,809 
Short-term portion of long-term interest-bearing loans 22.3, 23.3 4,044 – 
Current lease liabilities 2.2, 23.2 3,153 – 
Other payables, accrued expenses and contingent consideration liabilities 16, 23.2 15,348 5,610 
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 6.2 543 – 

Total current liabilities  44,291 25,005 

Total liabilities  69,251 39,807 

Total equity and liabilities  254,715 204,782 
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  Notes 2019 2018 

Online advertising  36,571 31,970 
MMO games  36,417 15,728 
Community IVAS  15,763 13,890 
Other revenue  7,480 4,517 

Total revenue  96,231 66,105 

     
Net (loss)/gain on venture capital investments 22 (139) 26 

     
Personnel expenses  (21,507) (22,698) 
Office rent and maintenance  (246) (2,528) 
Agent/partner fees  (25,030) (16,404) 
Marketing expenses  (16,422) (15,583) 
Server hosting expenses  (675) (1,966) 
Professional services  (785) (587) 
Other operating expenses  (3,371) (2,815) 

Total operating expenses   (68,036) (62,581) 

EBITDA  28,056 3,550 

     
Depreciation and amortisation 2.2, 7, 8 (12,771) (9,665) 
Impairment of intangible assets 7 (659) (1,711) 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 10 (1,691) (497) 
Finance income  585 545 
Finance expenses  (1,459) (17) 
Other non-operating loss  (182) (12) 
Gain on joint ventures formation  6.9, 6.10 15,855 – 
Loss on fair value remeasurement of assets held for sale 6.2 (4,519) – 
Net loss on derivative financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  22 (758) (516) 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of equity accounted associates 10 60 (37) 
Net gain on disposal of intangible assets 15 418 – 
Net gain on disposal of shares in subsidiaries  – 47 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associates  324 – 
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (980) 796 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense  22,279 (7,517) 
Income tax expense 18 (3,428) (546) 

Net profit/(loss)  18,851 (8,063) 

Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  18,686 (7,991) 
Non-controlling interests  165 (72) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations:    
Differences arising during the year  335 (293) 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) net of tax effect of 0  335 (293) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax  19,186 (8,356) 

Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  19,021 (8,284) 
Non-controlling interests  165 (72) 

Earnings/(loss) per share, in RUR:    
Basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 19 86 (37) 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  85 n/a 
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  Notes 2019 2018 

Cash flows from operating activities      
Profit/(loss) before income tax   22,279 (7,517) 
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) before income tax to cash flows:    
Depreciation and amortisation  12,771 9,665 
Impairment losses on financial assets at amortized cost  301 164 
Net loss/(gain) on venture capital investments 22 139 (26) 
Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  22 758 516 
Gain on joint ventures formation 6.9, 6.10 (15,855) – 
Loss on fair value remeasurement of assets held for sale 6.2 4,519 – 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries  – (47) 
Net gain on disposal of intangible assets 7 (418) – 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment and intangible assets   – 15 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associate  (324) – 
Finance income  (585) (545) 
Finance expenses  1,459 17 
Dividend revenue from venture capital investments  (18) (29) 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates 10 1,691 497 
(Reversal of impairment) / impairment of equity accounted associates  10 (60) 37 
Impairment of intangible assets 7 659 1,711 
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)  980 (796) 
Share-based payment expense  1,742 6,732 
Other non-cash items  16 30 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:    
Increase in accounts receivable  (3,566) (2,934) 
(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers  (406) 604 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories and other assets  1,340 (314) 
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses  (2,818) 1,592 
Decrease/(increase) in non-current prepaid expenses and advances  67 (217) 
(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue and customer advances  (8,065) 7,588 
Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 (1,820) (3,081) 
Increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 22 3,652 1,225 

Operating cash flows before interest, income taxes and contingent consideration 
settlement  18,438 14,887 

Dividends received from venture capital investments  7 28 
Settlement of contingent consideration of business combination 6.2, 16, 22 (688) – 
Interest received  493 561 
Interest paid  (1,459) (13) 
Income tax paid   (3,871) (2,981) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   12,920 12,482 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Cash paid for property and equipment  (4,688) (4,492) 
Cash paid for intangible assets  (3,697) (2,156) 
Dividends received from equity accounted associates  71 40 
Loans issued  (790) (83) 
Loans collected  1,903 – 
Cash paid for acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  6 (9,361) (8,031) 
Settlement of initial fair value of the contingent consideration at acquisition date 6.2, 16, 22 (1,132) – 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed  – (20) 
Cash paid for investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 6 (15,687) (1,960) 

Net cash provided by investing activities  (33,381) (16,702) 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Payment of lease liabilities 2.2 (3,493) – 
Loans received, net of bank commission 22.4 23,383 – 
Cash paid for treasury shares 14 (896) – 

Net cash used in financing activities   18,994 – 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (1,467) (4,220) 
Effect of exchange differences on cash balances  (431) 572 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  11,723 15,371 
Change in cash related to asset held for sale  (43) – 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  9,782 11,723 
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Share capital        

Number of shares 
issued and outstanding Amount Share premium Treasury shares Retained earnings 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve 

Total equity 
attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

Balance at January 1, 2018 212,424,794 – 51,722 (444) 114,676 128 166,082 84 166,166 

Loss for the year – – – – (7,991) – (7,991) (72) (8,063) 
Other comprehensive loss:       –  – 
Foreign currency translation – – – – – (293) (293) – (293) 

Total other comprehensive loss – – – – – (293) (293) – (293) 

Total comprehensive loss – – – – (7,991) (293) (8,284) (72) (8,356) 

Share-based payment transactions – – 6,918 – – – 6,918 – 6,918 
Exercise of RSUs and options over the 

shares of the Company 3,545,128 – (158) 158 – – – – – 
Acquisition of treasury shares (Note 14) – – – – – – – 269 269 
Effect of disposal of subsidiary – – – – – – – (22) (22) 

Balance at December 31, 2018 215,969,922 – 58,482 (286) 106,685 (165) 164,716 259 164,975 

 
 
 
 



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended December 31, 2019 
(in millions of Russian Roubles) 

Mail.Ru Group 2019 Results 10 

 

Share capital        

Number of shares 
issued and outstanding Amount Share premium Treasury shares Retained earnings 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve 

Total equity 
attributable to equity 
holders of the parent 

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

Balance at January 1, 2019 215,969,922 – 58,482 (286) 106,685 (165) 164,716 259 164,975 

Impact of IFRS 16 adoption (Note 2.2) – – – – (20) – (20) – (20) 

Adjusted balance at January 1, 2019 215,969,922 – 58,482 (286) 106,665 (165) 164,696 259 164,955 

Profit for the year – – – – 18,686 – 18,686 165 18,851 
Other comprehensive income:       –   
Foreign currency translation – – – – – 335 335 – 335 

Total other comprehensive income – – – – – 335 335 – 335 

Total comprehensive income – – – – 18,686 335 19,021 165 19,186 

Share-based payment transactions – – 1,826 – – – 1,826 – 1,826 
Exercise of RSUs and options over the 

shares of the Company 1,786,831 – (30) 30 – – – – – 
Acquisitions of treasury shares (Note 14) (572,437) – – (896) – – (896) – (896) 
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests in 

business combinations (Note 6) – – – – – – – 385 385 
Effect of disposal of subsidiary – – 8 – – – 8 – 8 

Balance at December 31, 2019 217,184,316 – 60,286 (1,152) 125,351 170 184,655 809 185,464 
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1 Corporate information and description of business 
 
These consolidated financial statements of Mail.ru Group Limited (hereinafter “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively – “the Group”) for the 
year ended December 31, 2019 were authorised for issue by the directors of the Company on February 26, 2020. 
 
The Company was registered on May 4, 2005 in the Territory of the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), pursuant to the International Business Companies 
Act (the “Act”), Cap. 291. The principal office of the Company is at 28 Oktovriou, 365, VASHIOTIS SEAFRONT, office 402, Neapoli, 3107 Limassol, 
Cyprus. 
 
The Company consolidates or participates in businesses that operate in the Internet segment, including portals, social networking and 
communications, online marketplaces, online-to-offline services, massively multiplayer online games (“MMO games”), social and mobile games. The 
Group has leading positions in Russia and other CIS states where its properties are present. 
 
Information on the Company’s main subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 9.  
 
 
2 Basis of preparation  
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). 
 
The Group maintains its accounting records and prepares its statutory accounting reports in accordance with domestic accounting legislation and 
instructions for each of its subsidiaries. These consolidated financial statements are based on the underlying accounting records, appropriately 
adjusted and reclassified for fair presentation in accordance with the standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). IFRS adjustments include and affect such major areas as consolidation, revenue recognition, accruals, deferred taxation, 
fair value adjustments, business combinations, impairment, share-based payments etc. 
 
2.2 Application of new and amended IFRS and IFRIC 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, except for the following new and amended IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations effective as of January 1, 2019: 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for most leases under a single on-balance sheet model.  
 
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating or finance 
leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 did not have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor. 
 
The Group adopted the new standard using a modified retrospective approach and utilizing certain practical expedients provided. In IFRS 
consolidated financial statements assets and liabilities under IFRS 16 were recognized as at January 1, 2019. The Group elected to use the 
recognition exemptions for lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (‘low-value assets’). 
 
The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at January 1, 2019 (increase/(decrease)) is as follows: 
 
Assets  
Right-of-use assets 6,295 
Other non-current assets (323) 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers (525) 
Deferred income tax assets (7) 

Total assets 5,440 

Liabilities  
Current lease liabilities 2,902 
Non-current lease liabilities 2,558 

Total liabilities 5,460 

Retained earnings (20) 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.6 Intangible assets other than goodwill 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is 
their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
 
3.6.1 Software development costs 
 
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred. 
 
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development 
expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, 
future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. 
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for 
its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Research and development costs recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income during 2019 amounted to RUR 888 (2018: 
RUR 258). 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
3.6.2 Useful life and amortisation of intangible assets 
 
The Group assesses whether the useful life of an intangible asset is finite or indefinite and, if finite, the length of, or number of production or similar 
units constituting, that useful life. An intangible asset is regarded by the entity as having an indefinite useful life when, based on an analysis of all of 
the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity. The 
Group did not have any intangible assets with an indefinite useful life in the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired.  
 
Amortisation periods and methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.  
 
The estimated useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets are as follows: 
 
 Estimated useful life (in years) 

Patents and trademarks 7-20 
Capitalised software development costs 3 
Domain names 10 
Games 3-9 
Customer base 3-15 
Licenses 3-5 
Purchased software 1-4 
 
3.7 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. All these items are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of financial position and 
statement of cash flows. 
 
3.8 Employee benefits 
 
Wages and salaries paid to employees are recognised as expenses in the current period or are capitalised as part of software development costs. 
The Group also accrues expenses for future vacation payments. 
 
Under provisions of Russian legislation, social contributions are made through social insurance payments calculated by the Group by the application 
of a 30% rate to the portion of the annual gross remuneration of each employee not exceeding RUR 1,150 and a rate of 15% to the portion 
exceeding this threshold. 
  



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)  

Mail.Ru Group 2019 Results 19 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.9 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain.  
 
If the effect of discounting is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected value of future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. 
 
3.10 Revenue recognition 
 
Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. Revenues from services are recognised in the period when services are rendered. 
 
3.10.1 Online advertising 
 
3.10.1.1 Display advertising 
 
Promo posts in social networks, video and banner advertising space for display advertising is sold on a dynamic basis (i.e., a function of time that an 
advertisement lasts) or a static basis (i.e., according to the number of page views on an advertisement). The Group has standard rates for online 
advertisements that depend on several factors, including the specific web page on which the banner appears, the length of the contract, the season, 
and the format, size and position of the advertisement. Display advertising revenue is recognised as the services are provided (i.e., as per page view 
for dynamic banners and over the contractual term for static banners). For display advertising sold through some third party advertising agencies, 
revenue generally is recognised net of any portion attributable to the third parties. For arrangements related to display advertising where the 
Group does not control advertising services before these services are transferred to end customers, and hence, the Group is an agent rather than a 
principal in these contracts. 
 
3.10.1.2 Context advertising 
 
The Group earns revenues for search context advertising through partnerships with third parties. Once a user carries out a search on certain of the 
Group’s websites, search results and advertisement links are displayed on the webpage based on relevancy to the search topic and other known 
user parameters. When clicked on by the user, the advertisement links lead to sites owned by the third parties’ advertising customers, for which the 
third party receives a fee, a portion of which it shares with the Group. Context advertising revenue is recognised as the services are provided  
(i.e., upon “click-through”, which is when a user clicks on an advertiser’s listing) on a net basis. This type of context advertising revenues is based on 
reports provided by third parties. 
 
Context advertising also includes revenue from the Group’s myTarget self-serve advertising technology (“target advertising”). Target 
advertisements are priced on either pay-per-click or pay-per-view basis. Revenue from pay-per-click advertisements is recognised upon click-
through, while revenue from pay-per-view advertisements is recognised as the advertisements are viewed. 
 
Context advertising also includes revenue related to the placement of target advertising, display advertising and advertising through integration in 
applications, advertising thought offers on the Group’s websites and in applications, advertising via networks comprising advertising banners 
placement on third party websites and advertising on the Group's site communities pages. The revenue from advertising in applications, on the web 
pages of communities and via networks is recognised on a gross basis with costs and commissions paid to third party owners and administrators of 
websites, applications, platforms and communities recognised in “Agent/partner fees”. 
 
3.10.2 Internet value-added services (“IVAS”) 
 
Revenue from IVAS is derived from a variety of Internet-based services, including communication products and online games.  
 
3.10.2.1 Revenue from MMO games 
 
The Group operates its games mainly under the free-to-play game model. The Group derives its online game revenue from in-game virtual items 
representing additional functionality and features for the game players’ characters purchased by game players to play the Group’s MMO games and 
casual games. The amounts of cash or receivables from payment systems for cash from the users, net of short messaging service operators, are 
not recognised as revenues and are credited to deferred revenue. They are then converted by the players into in-game points. In-game points are 
used to purchase in-game items. Under the item-based revenue model, revenues are recognised over the life of the in-game virtual items that 
game players purchase or as the in-game virtual items are consumed. Deferred revenue is reduced as revenues are recognised. The estimated life 
span of in-game items is determined based on historical player usage patterns and playing behaviour.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.10 Revenue recognition (continued)  
 
The Group enters into licensing arrangements with overseas licensees to operate the Group’s games in other countries and regions. These licensing 
agreements provide two separate elements, each having commercial substance: the initial non-refundable fees and the usage-based royalty fees. 
The initial non-refundable payment represents the license of the game and is recognised as license revenue immediately once the games are 
launched into commercial use by the licensees. Ongoing usage-based royalties determined based on the amount of money charged to the players’ 
accounts or services payable by players in a given country or region to the licensees are recognised when they are earned, provided that the 
collection is probable. 
 
3.10.2.2 Community IVAS 
 
The Group derives Community IVAS revenues through certain communication products, where users pay a fee for the paid content and online 
services, mainly through social networking web sites and through the commission from third party developers of the various applications placed on 
social networking web sites, including games, based on the respective applications’ revenue. The fees for such services are collected from 
customers using various payment channels, including bank cards, online payment systems and mobile operators and from the applications 
developers. The mobile network operators collect fees for such services from their customers, usually through mobile short message services 
(“SMS”), and pass such fees to the Group. Revenues from third party applications and developers on the Group’s platforms are recognised net of 
commission to mobile operators and any portion attributable to the developer of the application, at the time when customer payment is due. 
Revenues from services including games developed by the Group and operated on third party platforms are reported gross as the services are 
provided net of commission to mobile operators. If the amount of revenue is measured based on third party data, such amounts of revenue are 
recorded based on the best available data at the date of issuance of the financial statements. 
 
3.10.3 Other revenue 
 
Other revenues primarily consist of classifieds revenue, e-learning, non-advertising b2b big data services,database software implementation and 
support services, listing fees and dividends from venture investments. 
 
3.11 Income taxes 
 
The Company as a Cypriot tax resident is not subject to tax on capital gains and withholding taxes. However, in some jurisdictions where the 
Company’s subsidiaries and associates are incorporated (particularly in Russia), investment income is subject to withholding tax deducted at the 
source of the income. The Group presents the withholding tax separately from the gross dividend income in the statement of comprehensive 
income and the statement of cash flows. 
 
The Group is also subject to taxation in Russia, the Netherlands and some other jurisdictions its subsidiaries operate in (see also Note 18). 
 
Current income tax  
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 
date. Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income and not 
in profit or loss.  
 
Deferred income tax 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.  
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
3.12 Share-based payment transactions  
 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group and its associates (each of which a “share-based payment recipient”), may receive 
remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby share-based payment recipients render services as consideration for 
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”) or a cash equivalent thereof (“cash-settled share-based payments”). 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.14 Foreign currency translation 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RUR, which is the Group's presentation currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest 
million (RUR ’000000) except per share information and unless otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency 
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of the Group’s 
Russian subsidiaries and associates as well as the Company itself is RUR.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the measurement currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All 
resulting differences are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and included in the determination of net profit as ‘Net 
foreign exchange (losses)/gains’. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction.  
 
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries with functional currencies other than the RUR are translated 
into the presentation currency of the Group (RUR) at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and their operations are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
3.15 Impairment of non-financial assets and investments in equity accounted associates 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These 
calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 
 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in earnings in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset. 
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in earnings. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where 
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot 
be reversed in future periods. 
 
3.16 Earnings per share  
 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary and Class A shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for 
own shares held.  
 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding, 
adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which may comprise share options granted to employees of the 
Group.  
 
3.17 Segment reporting 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  
 
Segment results that are reported to the CODM include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.18 Financial investments in venture capital investees 
 
Financial investments in venture capital investees, are the Group’s investments in start-up Internet ventures and smaller Internet companies in 
Russia, Ukraine and Israel with ownership ranging from 1.5% to 50% and which gives the Group significant influence in some of these investments. 
They form the Group’s venture capital portfolio and are monitored and managed exclusively on the basis of their fair values. The Group’s 
involvement in the operating management of the investees is limited, and the possibility of the Group maintaining a specific financial investment in 
its investment portfolio in the long run is remote. Financial investments in such associates are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 
value even though the Group may exert significant influence over those companies. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures, which allows investments held by venture capital organisations to be excluded from its scope where those investments are 
designated, upon initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9, with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss in the period of the change. Accounting policies of the Group with respect to financial investments in associates are 
discussed in more detail under Note 3.13 above as part of the Group’s accounting policies with respect to financial assets. 
 
 
4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions  
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting dates and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 
 
4.1 Judgments 
 
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgments which have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
4.1.1 Consolidation and accounting for associates 
 
The Company directly or indirectly owned up to 50% in certain of its investments. Based on its voting rights and restrictions in the respective 
governing documents, the Group made judgments about whether it has control or significant influence over these investments. Subsequently, these 
entities are either accounted for as subsidiaries (consolidated) or associates (accounted for under the equity method or as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss). 
 
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is 
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the 
associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.  
  
The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those 
investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or 
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or 
joint venture.  
  
The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss 
outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and noncontrolling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.  
 
The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments 
are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.  
  
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its 
associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or 
joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint 
venture’ in the statement of profit or loss.  
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint 
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
4.1.2 Consolidation of a structured entity 
 
In November 2010, the Company established, as settlor, an employee benefit trust (the “Trust”) under a Trust Deed dated November 11, 2010 
(“Trust Deed”), the trustee of which is Mail.ru Employee Benefit Trustees Limited (the “Trustee”). The purpose of the Trust consists in holding trust 
funds for present and former employees and consultants and related persons. The Trustee manages employee stock options under the 2010 Option 
Plan (as defined in Note 24). Starting from October 2011, the Trustee was also instructed by the Company to acquire GDRs representing shares of 
the Company on the stock market and transfer those GDRs to employees in settlement of the 2010 Option Plan options as the options are exercised 
by the employees. The Group does not hold any equity interest in the Trust; however, under the Trust Deed, the Group has the power to appoint and 
remove the Trustee at its sole discretion. The operations of the Trust are restricted per the Trust Deed to the activities described above and are 
solely used by the Group. Based on these facts and circumstances, management concluded that the Group controls the Trustee and, therefore, 
consolidates the Trustee in its financial statements.   
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4 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)  
  
4.1 Judgments (continued)  
 
4.2.4 Software development costs 
 
Software development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 3.6.1. Initial capitalisation of costs is based 
on management's judgment that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a 
defined milestone according to an established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised management makes 
assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits.  
 
4.2.5 Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 
 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value 
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, 
conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use 
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from management forecast. The recoverable amount is 
sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. The key assumptions used to 
determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Notes 7 and 11. 
 
4.2.6 Fair value of assets and liabilities in business combinations  
 
At the acquisition date the Group recognises separately the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired or assumed in a business 
combination at their fair values, which involves estimates. Such estimates are based on valuation methods that require considerable judgment in 
forecasting future cash flows and developing other assumptions. 
 
4.2.7 Share-based payments 
 
Management estimates the fair value of equity-settled stock options at the date of grant and the fair value of cash-settled options at each reporting 
date using the Black-Scholes-Merton, binominal, Monte-Carlo or other option pricing models, as applicable. The option pricing models were 
originally developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have different characteristics than the Group’s stock options 
granted by the Company. The models are also sensitive to changes in the subjective assumptions, which can materially affect the fair value 
estimate. These subjective assumptions include expected volatility, dividend yield, risk-free interest and forfeiture rates. 
 
4.2.8 Deferred taxes on undistributed earnings 
 
Deferred tax is recognised based on estimated dividends distributions of Company’s subsidiaries taking into account limitation of cash and cash 
equivalents available at the reporting date. 
 
4.2.9 Changes in estimates  
 
In Q3 2019, the Group changed its estimates with respect to the life span of the in-game virtual items purchased by game players. The changes 
resulted from the fact that the Group accumulated sufficient data related to the patterns of how the in-game items are consumed by paying game 
players. As a result the Company refined its estimate of the period of satisfaction of the performance obligation in relation to virtual in-game items. 
The changes in estimates were recorded prospectively starting from Q3 2019 and resulted in an increase in revenue and a decrease in deferred 
MMO Games revenue estimated at RUR 13,324 as at December 31, 2019 (RUR 13,037 as at September 30, 2019). 
 
4.2.10 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 
 
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease 
if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
 
The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors 
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a 
significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., 
a change in business strategy). 
 
4.2.11. Significant judgement in determining incremental borrowing rate 
 
At for the interest rate the Group obtained estimation from banks and compared it to the rate of interest rate swap applicable for currency of the 
lease contract and for similar tenor, corrected by the average credit spread of entities with rating similar to the Group’s rating. The rate is close to 
9.6% for weighted average lease duration. Duration for discount rate is based on weighted average lease period (2.4 years for January 1, 2019). 
The discount rate is applied to all lease contracts. 
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5 Operating segments (continued)  
 
The information about the breakdown of revenue from external customers by the customers’ country of domicile and non-current assets by country 
is not available to the management of the Group, and it considers that the cost to develop such information would be excessive. 
 
The Group has changed presentation of its reporting segments retrospectively to provide corresponding basis for comparison. 
 
The income statement items for each segment for the year ended December 31, 2019, as presented to the CODM, are presented below:  
 

  Communications and Social  Games New initiatives Eliminations Group 

Revenue      
External revenue 50,313 30,551 6,206 – 87,070 
Intersegment revenue 208 118 27 (353) – 

Total revenue 50,521 30,669 6,233 (353) 87,070 
Total operating expenses 23,186 25,425 9,060 (353) 57,318 

EBITDA 27,335 5,244 (2,827) – 29,752 

Net profit      15,649 

 
The income statement items for each segment for the year ended December 31, 2018, as presented to the CODM, are presented below: 
 

  Communications and Social  Games New initiatives Eliminations Group 

Revenue      
External revenue 43,575 24,841 2,748 – 71,164 
Intersegment revenue 191 4 1 (196) – 

Total revenue 43,766 24,845 2,749 (196) 71,164 
Total operating expenses 18,122 19,839 6,262 (196) 44,027 

EBITDA 25,644 5,006 (3,513) – 27,137 

Net profit     15,083 

 
A reconciliation of group aggregate segment revenue, as presented to the CODM, to IFRS consolidated revenue of the Group for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented below:  
 

 2019 2018 

Group aggregate segment revenue, as presented to the CODM 87,070 71,164 
Adjustments to reconcile revenue as presented to the CODM to consolidated revenue under IFRS:   
Effect of difference in dates of acquisition,loss of control in subsidiaries and assets held for sale 2,615 2,992 
Differences in timing of revenue recognition 6,520 (8,154) 
Barter revenue 8 74 
Dividend revenue from venture capital investments 18 29 

Consolidated revenue under IFRS 96,231 66,105 
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5 Operating segments (continued)  
 
A reconciliation of group aggregate segment EBITDA, as presented to the CODM, to IFRS consolidated profit/(loss) before income tax expense of the 
Group for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented below:  
 
  2019 2018 

Group aggregate segment EBITDA, as presented to the CODM 29,752 27,137 
Adjustments to reconcile EBITDA as presented to the CODM to consolidated profit/(loss) before income tax 

expenses under IFRS:   
Effect of difference in dates of acquisition, loss of control in subsidiaries and assets held for sale (8,091) (5,904) 
IFRS 16 implementation – (3,540) 
Differences in timing of revenue recognition  8,265 (7,464) 
Net (loss)/gain on venture capital investments (139) 26 
Share-based payment transactions (1,742) (6,732) 
Other 11 27 

EBITDA 28,056 3,550 

Depreciation and amortisation (12,771) (9,665) 
Impairment of intangible assets (659) (1,711) 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates (1,691) (497) 
Finance income 585 545 
Finance expenses (1,459) (17) 
Other non-operating loss (182) (12) 
Gain on joint ventures formation 15,855 – 
Loss on fair value remeasurement of assets held for sale (4,519) – 
Net loss on derivative financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (758) (516) 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associate 324 – 
Reversal of impairment / (impairment) of equity accounted associates 60 (37) 
Net gain on disposal of intangible assets 418 – 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiary – 47 
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (980) 796 

Consolidated profit/(loss) before income tax expense under IFRS  22,279 (7,517) 

 
A reconciliation of group aggregate net profit, as presented to the CODM, to IFRS consolidated net profit/(loss) of the Group for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented below: 
  2019 2018 

Group aggregate segment net profit, as presented to the CODM 15,649 15,083 
Adjustments to reconcile net profit as presented to the CODM to consolidated net profit/(loss) under IFRS:   
Share-based payment transactions (1,742) (6,732) 
Differences in timing of revenue recognition  8,265 (7,464) 
Effect of difference in dates of acquisition, loss of control in subsidiaries and assets held for sale (6,959) (6,006) 
IFRS 16 implementation – 435 
Amortisation of fair value adjustments to intangible assets (3,192) (5,174) 
Gain on joint ventures formation 15,855 – 
Loss on fair value remeasurement of assets held for sale (4,519) – 
Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (897) (490) 
Gain on remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associate 324 – 
Net gain on disposal of intangible assets 418 – 
Net gain on disposal of subsidiary – 47 
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (980) 796 
Share of loss of equity accounted associates (1,691) (497) 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of equity accounted associates  60 (37) 
Other non-operating loss (182) (12) 
Other (11) (16) 
Tax effect of the adjustments  (1,547) 2,004 

Consolidated net profit/(loss) under IFRS 18,851 (8,063) 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 
 
6.1 UMA  
 
In February 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of Salerton Investments Limited (“UMA”), an Internet and mobile music service provider 
in Russia, for a total cash consideration of RUR 6,391. As of September 30, 2019, as a result of the control acquisition the Group derecognized equity 
accounted investment in UMA. The main purpose of the acquisition is to expand the Group’s presence in the market of music services. 
 
In February 2020 the Group finalised purchase price allocation for UMA acquisition, which resulted in no change from provisional values. The fair 
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of UMA at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 
  Fair value 

Intangible assets 693 
Property and equipment  3 
Deferred income tax assets 111 
Trade accounts receivable 356 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 169 
Other current assets 26 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,079 

Total assets 2,437 

Trade accounts payable 858 
Deferred income tax liabilities 31 
Income tax payable 13 
Other taxes payable 100 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 47 

Total liabilities 1,049 

Total net assets 1,388 
   
Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a) The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1] Cash paid 6,391 
[2] The acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 1,601 

Consideration transferred by the Group 7,992 
   

(b) The amount of non-controlling interest in UMA measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 14 
Over  
(c) The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at final 

fair values 1,388 

Goodwill 6,618 

 
Goodwill is mainly attributable to development of music services, cost saving and potential synergy with the Group’s business. Goodwill is allocated 
to Vkontante and Social Networks CGUs. 
 
Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
 
Intangible assets mainly include software and customer base, and are amortised over the period of 2 to 5 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 6,391 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (1,079) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 5,312 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.2 ESforce  
 
In January 2018 the Group acquired a leading eSport group of companies operating under the ESforce brand (together “ESforce”) for a cash 
consideration of RUR 5,659 and contingent consideration, measured at fair value, of RUR 1,132 based on ongoing financial KPIs in a period of  
1 year. Contingent liability was denominated in USD and remeasured in December 2018 to RUR 1,948 (Note 16) and paid in full amount in March 
2019. The primary purpose of the acquisition of ESforce was to enhance the Group’s position on the eSports market. 
 
In January 2019 the Group finalised purchase price allocation for ESforce acquisition, which resulted in no change from provisional values. The fair 
values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ESforce at the date of acquisition were as follows:  
 
  Fair value 

Property and equipment  648 
Other intangible assets  674 
Deferred income tax assets  227 
Trade accounts receivable 191 
Prepaid income tax  12 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 23 
Other current assets 167 
Other non-current assets 9 
Cash and cash equivalents 207 

Total assets 2,158 

Deferred income tax liabilities 144 
Trade accounts payable 235 
VAT and other taxes payable 12 
Deferred revenue and customer advances 68 
Provisions for tax contingencies 128 
Other payables and accrued expenses 130 

Total liabilities 717 

Total net assets 1,441 

   
Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1]  Cash consideration 5,659 
[2]  Contingent consideration liability (Note 16) 1,132 

Consideration transferred by the Group 6,791 

   
(b)  The amount of non-controlling interest in ESforce measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 22 
Over  
(с)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at final 

fair values 1,441 

Goodwill 5,372 

 
Goodwill is mainly attributable to the potential of ESforce to further enhance its leadership position in the eSports market, as well as the prospects 
of potential synergies with the Group’s other operations. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.  
 
Intangible assets mainly include trademark and customer base, and are amortised over the period of 2 to 5 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 5,730 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (207) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 5,523 
 
In June 2019 the Group decided to create a partnership around ESforce eSports business. As of June 30, 2019 the Group reclassified related to 
ESforce assets in amount RUR 6,920 as assets held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale in the amount RUR 0.6 billion.  
 
In December 2019, the Group remeasured fair value of ESforce, classified as assets held for sale, from RUR 6.3 billion to RUR 1.8 billion and, 
therefore recognized, remeasurement loss in the amount of RUR 4.5 billion for 2019 primarily related to goodwill.  
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.2 ESforce (continued)  
 
As at December 31, 2019, the Group classified related to ESforce assests in the amount RUR 2,334 as assets held for sale and liabilities directly 
associated with assets held for sale in the amount RUR 543 as the Group plans to recover its carrying value through a sale transaction or 
contribution to a joint venture. 
 
The Group decided to use the right to reverse Modern Pick partnership transaction around ESforce due to non-completion of the key asset 
consolidation condition by the majority shareholder as of December 31, 2019. 
 
6.3 BitGames, 33 Slona and InShopper 
 
In April 2018 the Group acquired control in mobile games developer PBL Bitdotgames Publishing Limited (“BitGames”) by increasing its share to 
51% (49% in addition to 2% stake as of March 31, 2018). The primary purpose of the acquisition of BitGames was to enhance the Group’s position 
on mobile games market.  
 
Also in April 2018 the Group completed the acquisition of 100% in LLC “33 Slona” and LLC “Tekhnologii nedvizhimosti” (collectively, “33 Slona”), a 
digital real estate agency. The primary purpose of the acquisition of 33 Slona was to leverage the Group’s expertise and resources by achieving 
substantial synergies with Youla, the Group’s general online classifieds product. 
 
In June 2018 the Group completed the acquisition of the 100% in Consult Universal Corp (“InShopper”), a cash-back technology provider. The 
primary purpose of the acquisition of InShopper was to leverage the Group’s expertise and resources by achieving substantial synergies with 
Group’s payment technologies and solutions.  
 
Total cash consideration for the transactions above was RUR 2.5 bln and contingent consideration, measured at fair value, of RUR 93 (based on 
ongoing financial KPIs in a period of 1 year. Contingent liability was remeasured in March 2019 to RUR 9. 
 
In April 2019 the Group finalised purchase price allocation for BitGames, 33 Slona and InShopper acquisitions, which resulted in no change from 
provisional values. The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of BitGames, 33 Slona and InShopper at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 

 Fair value 

Other intangible assets 1,140 
Loans receivable 5 
Deferred income tax assets  59 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 14 
Trade accounts receivable 36 
Other current assets 36 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 

Total assets 1,316 

Deferred income tax liabilities 143 
Trade accounts payable 83 
Deferred revenue and customer advances 473 
Loans payable 33 
VAT and other taxes payable 5 
Other payables and accrued expenses 10 

Total liabilities 747 

Total net assets 569 
  

Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1]  Cash paid 2,515 
[2]  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – derivative over the equity of investee 11 
[3]  The acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 114 
[4]  Contingent consideration liability (Note 16) 93 

Consideration transferred by the Group 2,733 
   

(b)  The amount of non-controlling interest measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 247 
Over  
(с)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at final 

fair values 569 

Goodwill 2,411 
 
Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill is mainly attributable to development of new games, cost saving and 
potential synergy with the Group’s classified business, payment solutions and other operations. 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.3 BitGames, 33 Slona and InShopper (continued)  
 
Goodwill related to BitGames and 33 Slona acquisition is allocated to Games and Youla CGUs correspondingly. Goodwill related to InShopper 
acquisitions is allocated to Vkontakte, Social Networks and Email and Portal CGUs. 
 
Intangible assets mainly include social and mobile games and are amortised over the period of 2 to 5 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 

Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 2,534 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (26) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 2,508 

 
6.4 Citymobil 
 
In April 2018 as a result of a number of transactions the Group acquired a 25.38% stake in taxi aggregator City-Mobil LLC (“Citymobil”) for a total 
cash consideration of RUR 530, including RUR 120 conversion of loan. In 2019 the Group participated in new funding rounds and contributed 
additionally RUR 679. As a result of RUR 2.2 bln loan conversion the Group’s share in Citymobil increased to 29.669%.  
 
The Group concluded that it has significant influence over Citymobil as the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions through its representation on Citymobil’s Board of Directors. The Group’s ownership interest in Citymobil represents an investment in an 
associate and is accounted for under the equity method. As of April 2019, the Group finalized purchase price allocation of Citymobil, which resulted 
in no change from provisional values. 
 
In July 2019 the Board of Directors of the Company approved the signing of a term sheet assuming investment into a new O2O-focused company.  
 
In December 2019 the O2O deal was finalized and Citymobil was transferred to new O2O JV as a part of the Group investment. For details please 
refer to Note 6.10. 
 
6.5 Panzerdog 
 
In May 2019 the Group acquired control in mobile games developer Panzerdog OY (“Panzerdog”) by increasing its share to 59.45% (39.45% in addition 
to 20% stake as of March 31, 2019) for total cash consideration of RUR 626. As of September 30, 2019, as a result of the control acquisition the Group 
derecognized equity accounted investment in Panzerdog with the gain from remeasurement of previously held interest in equity accounted associates 
of RUR 285. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Panzerdog was to enhance the Group’s position on mobile games market.  
 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
  Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 654 
Property and equipment  2 
Trade accounts receivable 87 
Other current assets 31 
Cash and cash equivalents 89 

Total assets 863 

Deferred revenue 168 
Deferred income tax liabilities 131 
Trade accounts payable 215 

Total liabilities 514 

Total net assets 349 
  

Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a) The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1] Cash paid 626 
[2] The acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 317 

Consideration transferred by the Group 943 
  

(b) The amount of non-controlling interest in Panzerdog measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 141 
Over  
(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – derivative over the equity of investee (Note 22) 110 
(d) The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 349 

Goodwill 625 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.5 Panzerdog (continued)  
 
Goodwill is mainly attributable to development of new games and potential synergy with the Group’s business. Goodwill is not expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.  
 
Intangible assets mainly include mobile games and are amortised over the period of 2 to 5 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 630 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (89) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 541 

 
6.6 Native Roll, Worki and Relap 
 
In April 2019 the Group acquired 50.83% in Native Media LLC (“Native Roll”) – a video ad platform. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Native 
Roll was to enhance the Group’s position on advertising solutions market. As of December 31, 2019 the Group acquired control over the remaining 
share of 49.17%. 
 
In May 2019 the Group acquired 51% in LLC “Iconjob” (“Worki”), a job search platform. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Worki was to 
leverage the Group’s expertise and resources by achieving substantial synergies with Youla, the Group’s general online classifieds product. As of 
December 31, 2019 the Group acquired control over the remaining share of 49%. 
 
Also, in May 2019 the Group acquired 100% in Surfingbird LLC (“Relap”), a recommendatory platform. The primary purpose of the acquisition of 
Relap was to leverage the Group’s expertise and resources by achieving substantial synergies with Pulse, the Group’s recommendation technologies 
and solutions. 
Total cash consideration for the transactions above was RUR 2.1 bln. 
 
In accounting for the business combinations, the Group has provisionally determined the amounts of the acquired companies’ identifiable assets 
and liabilities at their fair value. The acquisition accounting will be finalised upon completion of the tax planning and valuation of Native Roll, Worki 
and Relap’s assets and liabilities. 
 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Native Roll, Worki and Relap as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 
  Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 335 
Property and equipment  4 
Trade accounts receivable 200 
Other current assets 22 
Cash and cash equivalents 86 

Total assets 647 

Trade accounts payable 139 
Loans payable 67 
Deferred income tax liabilities 55 
VAT and other taxes payable 13 
Other payables 28 

Total liabilities 302 

Total net assets 345 
  
Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a) The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1] Cash paid 2,064 
[2] Contingent consideration liability 71 

Consideration transferred by the Group 2,135 
  
(b) Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss – derivative over the equity of investee (Note 22) 461 
Over  
(c) The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 345 

Goodwill 2,251 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.6 Native Roll, Worki and Relap (continued)  
 
Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill is mainly attributable to enhancement the Group’s position on 
advertising and online recruitment markets and potential synergies with the Group’s businesses. 
 
Intangible assets mainly include software, trademark and customer base and are amortised over the period of 2 to 10 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 2,064 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (86) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 1,978 

 
6.7 Swag Masha 
 
On July 8, 2019 the Group acquired control over mobile games developer LLC “Swag Masha” (“Swag Masha”) by increasing its share to 51% (16% in 
addition to 35% stake as of March 31, 2019) for a total cash consideration of RUR 79. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Swag Masha was to 
enhance the Group’s position on mobile games market. 
 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 
  Provisional fair value 

Intangible assets 273 
Property and equipment  1 
Trade accounts receivable 68 
Other current assets 1 
Cash and cash equivalents 33 

Total assets 376 

Trade accounts payable 140 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 1 

Total liabilities 141 

Total net assets 235 
  
Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a) The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1] Cash paid 79 
[2] The acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest 170 

Consideration transferred by the Group 249 
   
(b) The amount of non-controlling interest in Swag Masha measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 115 
Over  
(c) The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 235 

Goodwill 129 

 
Goodwill is mainly attributable to development of new games and potential synergy with the Group’s business. Goodwill is not expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.  
 
Intangible assets mainly include mobile games and are amortised over the period of 2 to 5 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 79 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (33) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 46 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.8 Skillbox 
 
In December 2019 the Group acquired control in educational online platform LLC “Skillbox” (“Skillbox”) by increasing its share to 60.3% (50% in 
addition to 10.3% stake as of February 14, 2019 that was accounted as financial asset at fair value through profit and loss) for a total cash 
consideration of RUR 1.6 bln. The primary purpose of the acquisition of Skillbox was to expand the Group’s presence on the online education market 
by achieving substantial synergies with Geekbrains, the Group’s online educational platform. 
 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 

  Provisional fair value 

Property and equipment  26 
Intangible assets 741 
Trade accounts receivable 7 
Prepaid expenses and advances to suppliers 46 
Other current assets 1 
Cash and cash equivalents 118 

Total assets 939 

Trade accounts payable 21 
Deferred revenue and customer advances 603 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 53 

Total liabilities 677 

Total net assets 262 
   
Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a) The consideration transferred by the Group measured at fair values:  

[1]  Cash paid 1,602 
[2]  the acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest measured at fair values 331 

Consideration transferred by the Group 1,933 
   

(b)  The amount of non-controlling interest in Skillbox measured at the proportionate share of the identifiable net assets 104 
Over  
(c)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 262 

Goodwill 1,775 

 
Goodwill is mainly attributable to educational services and potential synergy with the Group’s business. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes.  
 
Intangible assets mainly include software, trademark and customer base and are amortised over the period of 2 to 10 years. 
 
The cash flows on acquisition were as follows: 
 
Cash paid (included in cash flows from investing activities) 1,602 
Cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (118) 

Net cash flow on acquisition 1,484 

 
6.9 Aliexpress Russia Joint Venture  
 
On October 8, 2019, the Group with Alibaba Group, MegaFon and RDIF completed formation of Aliexpress Russia Joint Venture (AER or AER JV).  
 
The Group invested its Pandao e-commerce assets with fair value of RUR 1 bln and cash consideration in the amount of RUR 11.8 bln in exchange 
for a 15.01% stake in the AER JV (voting – 18%). 
 
Cash consideration in the amount of RUR 11.8 bln is comprised of RUR 6.5 bln paid on October 8, 2019 and the rest of the amount to be 
contributed by October 2020. 
 
Alibaba Group invested cash in the amount of RUR 6.5 bln and contributed its AliExpress Russia business in exchange for a 55.7% stake (voting – 
49.9%), RDIF invested cash in the amount of RUR 6.5 bln in exchange for a 5% stake (voting – 1.2%) and MegaFon sold 9.97% economic stake in 
Mail.ru Group to Alibaba Group in exchange for a 24.3% stake (voting – 30.2%) in the AER JV. 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.9 Aliexpress Russia Joint Venture (continued)  
 
All parties contractually agreed sharing of control over AER based on the unanimous consent of the parties over decisions related to AER JV’s 
relevant activities.  
 
The Group recognizes this investment as a joint venture and has accounted for it under the equity method.  
 
The calculation of the gain on joint venture formation at the date of formation (October 8, 2019) is presented in the table below: 
 
Fair value of 15.01% retained interest in joint venture adjusted for gain related to the Group’s interest 12,692 
Carrying value of net assets disposed  (32) 
Cash consideration (11,799) 

Gain on joint venture formation (related to disposal of Pandao) 861 

 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 

  
Provisional fair value as of 

October 8, 2019 

Intangible assets 44,237 
Property and equipment  825 
Other non-current assets 346 
Inventories 1,075 
Trade accounts receivable 12,196 
Other current assets 41 
Cash and cash equivalents 13,170 

Total assets 71,890 

Deferred tax liabilities 8,787 
Trade accounts payable 969 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 96 

Total liabilities 9,852 

Total net assets 62,038 

Group's effective share in equity – 15.01% 9,314 
  

Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  Fair value of 15.01% retained interest in joint venture adjusted for gain related to the Group’s interest 12,692 
Over  
(b)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 9,314 

Goodwill 3,378 

 
Goodwill in the amount in RUR 3.3 bln is included in the carrying amount of the AER JV investment. 
 
Intangible assets mainly include trademark and customer base and are amortised over the period of 3 to 8 years. 
 
6.10 O2O Joint Venture 
 
In July 2019, the Group and Sberbank entered into an agreement for the investment into a new O2O group (O2O or O2O JV) focused on digital 
technologies for food and transportation markets. As of December 18, 2019 all the necessary corporate governance and regulatory approvals, 
including the approval from Federal Antimonopoly Service, had been received so the formation of a partnership was completed.  
 
The Group contributed its stakes in Delivery Club (100%) and Citymobil (29.67%) as well as cash consideration of RUR 8.5 bln and contingent 
consideration in the amount of RUB 4.6 bln depending on the achievement of a number of KPIs by contributed businesses by November 2020 and 
other contingent consideration in amount of RUR 0.8 bln. 
 
Sberbank contributed cash in the amount of RUR 39.7 bln (used by O2O JV to acquire additional 5.8% stake in Citymobil and 100% stake in 
Foodplex) and contingent consideration in the amount of RUB 13 bln depending on the achievement of a number of KPIs by contributed businesses 
by November 2020. 
 
The parties have equal 50% stakes in the O2O JV, with up to 10% of shares to be potentially allocated for the long-term motivation program to 
incentivize O2O platform’s employees. 
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6 Business combinations in 2018 and 2019 (continued)  
 
6.10 O2O Joint Venture (continued)  
 
The Group recognizes this investment as a joint venture and has accounted for it under the equity method.  
 
The calculation of the gain on joint venture formation at the date of formation (December 18, 2019) is presented in the table below: 
 
Fair value of 50% retained interest in joint venture adjusted for gain related to the Group’s interest 37,019 
Cash consideration (8,447) 
Carrying value of net assets disposed (8,177) 
Contingent consideration payable at fair value (5,401) 

Gain on joint venture formation (related to disposal of Delivery Club and carrying amount of Citymobil) 14,994 

 
Provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 

  
Provisional fair value as of 

December 18, 2019 

Investments in associates 559 
Right-of-use assets 1,698 
Intangible assets 18,084 
Property and equipment  153 
Deferred income tax assets 447 
Other non-current assets 454 
Trade accounts receivable 963 
Other current assets, including consideration receivable of RUR 17.6 bln 19,000 
Cash and cash equivalents 44,456 

Total assets 85,814 

Other non-current liabilities 235 
Trade accounts payable 3,149 
Lease liabilities 1,440 
Other payables, provisions and accrued expenses 21,011 

Total liabilities 25,835 

Total net assets 59,979 

Group's effective share in equity – 50% (effective share in equity adjusted by NCI – 48.6%) 29,148 
   

Goodwill on the transaction was calculated as the excess of:  
(a)  Fair value of 50% retained interest in joint venture adjusted for gain related to the Group’s interest 37,019 
Over  
(b)  The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair 

provisional values 29,148 

Goodwill 7,871 

 
Goodwill in the amount in RUR 7.8 bln is included in the carrying amount of О2О JV investment. 
 
Intangible assets mainly include trademark and customer base and are amortised over the period of 3 to 10 years. 
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8 Property and equipment 
 

  Servers and  
computers 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Furniture,  
office equipment 

and motor vehicles 
Assets under 
construction 

Other property and 
equipment Total 

Cost       
At January 1, 2018 10,224 516 263 582 798 12,383 
Additions – – – 4,657 (1) 4,656 
Transfers 3,228 135 76 (3,747) 308 0 
Disposals (364) – (6) – (6) (376) 
Assets held for sale (32) – – – – (32) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 6) 32 434 68 41 73 648 
Disposal due to disposal of subsidiaries (1) – (1) – – (2) 
Translation adjustment 59 – 2 – 2 63 

At December 31, 2018 13,146 1,085 402 1,533 1,174 17,340 

Additions 111 – – 4,653 – 4,764 
Transfers 3,520 1 91 (3,751) 139 – 
Disposals (247) – (1) (35) (7) (290) 
Assets held for sale (35) (484) (74) (14) (111) (718) 
Additions due to acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 6) 20 – – 4 12 36 
Translation adjustment (53) – (10) (9) (1) (73) 

At December 31, 2019 16,462 602 408 2,381 1,206 21,059 
        
Accumulated depreciation and impairment       
At January 1, 2018 (6,980) (274) (164) – (474) (7,892) 
Charge for the year (2,278) (253) (38) – (129) (2,698) 
Disposals 358 – 2 – – 360 
Translation adjustment (51) (1) (7) – (1) (60) 

At December 31, 2018 (8,951) (528) (207) – (604) (10,290) 

Charge for the year (2,763) (117) (53) – (135) (3,068) 
Disposals 270 – 1 – – 271 
Assets held for sale 15 268 1 – 14 298 
Translation adjustment 51 1 8 – – 60 

At December 31, 2019 (11,378) (376) (250) – (725) (12,729) 
        
Net book value       
At January 1, 2018 3,244 242 99 582 324 4,491 

At December 31, 2018 4,195 557 195 1,533 570 7,050 

At December 31, 2019 5,084 226 158 2,381 481 8,330 
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9 Consolidated subsidiaries 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries, whose main activity 
is providing Russian-language Internet services. The significant subsidiaries as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are listed below: 
 
    Ownership,%* 
Subsidiary Main activity December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Mail Coöperatief UA (Netherlands) Holding entity 100.0% 100.0% 
MRGroup Investments Limited (Cyprus) Holding entity 100.0% 100.0% 

Mail.Ru, LLC (Russia)   
Online portal services, development and support 
of online games, social network 100.0% 100.0% 

NBSCI Money.Mail.Ru, LLC (Russia) Internet payment system 100.0% 100.0% 
Mail.Ru Development LLC Reserch and development of online products 100.0% 100.0% 
MGL MY.COM (CYPRUS) LIMITED (renamed from 

Benstar limited) Support of online games 100.0% 100.0% 
Mail.Ru Group LLC (renamed from Internet 

company Mail.Ru LLC) Holding company 100.0% 100.0% 
Data Centre M100 LLC (Russia) Hosting services 100.0% 100.0% 
My.com B.V. (Netherlands) Support of online games and portal services 100.0% 100.0% 
Mail.ru Internet Holdings B.V. (Netherlands) Holding company 100.0% 100.0% 
Mail.ru Aggregates B.V. (Netherlands) Holding company 100.0% 100.0% 
Mail.ru Holdings B.V. (Netherlands) Holding company 100.0% 100.0% 
V kontakte LLC (Russia)  Social network 100.0% 100.0% 
Pixonic LLC (Russia) Reserch and development of online products 100.0% 100.0% 
Pixonic Games Limited (Cyprus) Online games operation 100.0% 100.0% 
Delivery Club LLC (Russia)** Food delivery – 100.0% 
 
* The ownership percentages above represent the Company’s effective indirect ownership in each subsidiary. There are no differences between economic and voting 

rigths which the Group holds in subsidiaries. 
** the Group lost control over the subsidiary due to the formation of JV. For details please refer to Note 6.10 
 
 
10 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures 
 
The Group has investments in associates operating popular Internet websites and providing various services over the Internet. Also since 2019 the 
Group entered into new joint ventures. For details please refer to Note 6. 
 
Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures at December 31, 2019 and 2018 comprised the following:  
 

 Main activity 

Voting shares Carrying value  
December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 

Joint ventures      
Aliexpress Russia Holding Pte. Ltd. Cross-border marketplace 18% 0% 12,021 – 
O2O Holding LLC Russia’s leading platform in mobility and 

food-tech 50% 0% 36,517 – 
Associates      
Inplat Holdings Limited (Cyprus) Operation of electronic online payment systems 17.76% 17.76% 581 573 
Haslop Company Limited (Cyprus) 

and Russian subsidiaries 
(collectively, "Mamba") 

Provides content for www.love.mail.ru, a vertical 
of the www.mail.ru portal operated by a 
subsidiary of Mail.Ru Internet NV 31.19% 31.19% 493 393 

Salerton Investment Limited 
(Cyprus) (Note 6.1) The company holds music library rights 100%* 20% – 1,730 

Others    222 120 

Total    49,834 2,816 

*  the Group obtained control over Salerton Investment Limited (UMA) (see Note 6.1) 
 
The above entities have the same reporting date as the Company. None of the entities were listed on a public exchange as of December 31, 2019. 
 
The tables below illustrate the summarized financial information of the Group’s significant equity accounted investments and joint ventures in: 
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10 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures (continued)  
 
10.1 Investments in associates 
 
a) Inplat Holdings Limited 
 
 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Current assets 287 237 
Non-current assets 86 72 
Current liabilities (99) (84) 

Equity 274 225 

Group's share in equity – 17.76% (2018: 17.76%) 48 40 
Goodwill 533 533 

Group's carrying amount of the investment 581 573 
 

 2019 2018 

Revenue  938 1,050 
Cost of sales (801 (843 
Administrative expenses (75) (54) 
Finance and other costs (1) (8) 

Profit before tax 61 145 
Income tax expense (17) (19) 

Profit for the year 44 126 

Group's share of profit for the year 8 22 
 
 
b) Haslop Company Limited 
 
 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Current assets 174 294 
Non-current assets 32 17 
Current liabilities (116) (205) 

Equity 90 106 

Group's share in equity – 31.19% (2018: 31.19%) 28 33 
Goodwill 360 360 

Reversal of impairment 105 – 

Group's carrying amount of the investment 493 393 
 

 2019 2018 

Revenue 954 865 
Cost of sales (474) (470) 
Administrative expenses (192) (84) 
Finance and other costs (10) – 

Profit before tax 278 311 
Income tax expense (66) (56) 

Profit for the year 212 255 

Group's share of profit for the year 66 80 
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10 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures (continued)  
 
10.2 Interest in joint ventures 
 
c) О2О Holding LLC 
 

 
Provisional values as of 

December 31, 2019 

Current assets, including cash and cash equivalents of RUR 30 bln and consideration receivable of RUR 17.6 bln 49,872 
Non-current assets, including intangible assets of RUR 18 bln, right-of-use assets of RUR 1.6 bln and deferred tax assets of  

RUR 635 21,473 
Current liabilities, including trade accounts payable and advances received of RUR 3 bln, deferred consideration of RUR 5 bln 

and lease liability of RUR 1.4 bln (12,193) 
Non-current liabilities  (210) 

Equity 58,942 

Group's share in equity – 50% (effective share in equity adjusted by NCI – 48.6%) 28,646 
Net profit on acquisition 7,871 

Group's carrying amount of the investment 36,517 

  
 December 2019 

Revenue 459 
Cost of sales (296) 
Administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization of RUR 115 (1,289) 
Finance and other income/expenses, including net interest expense of RUR 13 (29) 

Loss before tax (1,155) 
Income tax benefit 96 

Loss for the period (1,059) 

Non-controlling interest share (56) 

Group's share of loss for the period (501) 

 
 
d) Aliexpress Russia Holding Pte Limited 
 
 December 31, 2019 

Current assets, including cash and cash equivalents of RUR 18 bln and trade accounts receivable of RUR 8 bln 28,417 
Non-current assets, including intangible assets of RUR 43 bln 45,717 
Current liabilities, including trade accounts payable of RUR 7 bln (8,421) 
Non-current liabilities, including deferred tax liability of RUR 8 bln (8,140) 

Equity 57,573 

Group's share in equity – 15.01% 8,643 
Goodwill 3,378 

Group's carrying amount of the investment 12,021 

 
 October-December 2019 

Revenue 6,428 
Cost of sales (5,780) 
Marketing expenses (2,158) 
Administrative expenses, including depreciation and amortization of RUR 1 bln (1,712) 
Finance and other costs (1,243) 

Loss before tax (4,465) 
Income tax expense – 

Loss for the period (4,465) 

Group's share of loss for the period (670) 
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10 Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures (continued)  
 
10.2 Interest in joint ventures (continued)  
 
Movement in investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented below: 
 

      2019 2018 

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures at January 1 2,816 1,013 
Acquisition of shares in equity accounted associates  3,749 2,377 
Acquisition of shares in equity accounted joint ventures (Note 6.9, 6.10) 49,711 – 
Disposal of associate due to formation of joint ventures  (2,998) – 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of equity accounted associates and joint ventures 60 (37) 
Acquisition of control over strategic associates (1,742) – 
Share in net profits of equity accounted associates and joint ventures (1,691) (497) 
Dividends from equity accounted associates and joint ventures (71) (40) 

Investments in equity accounted associates and joint ventures at December 31 49,834 2,816 

 
 
11 Impairment testing of goodwill  
 
The table below shows movements in goodwill per groups of CGUs, corresponding to the Group`s operating segments for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

 
Email, Portal 

and IM 
Social 

Networks 
Online 
Games Search E-commerce Vkontakte Pixonic DeliveryClub ESforce Skillbox Others Total 

Cost at January 1, 
2018 8,192 18,474 1,952 2,496 462 93,691 1,592 6,179 – – – 133,038 

Additions – – 210 – 1,720 – – – 5,372 – 478 7,780 
Disposal – – – – – – – – (372) – – (372) 

Cost at December 31, 
2018 8,192 18,474 2,162 2,496 2,182 93,691 1,592 6,179 5,000 – 478 140,446 

Additions – 2,515 754 – 1,565 4,103 – – – 1,775 686 11,398 
Assets held for sale – – – – – – – (6,179) (5,000) – – (11,179) 

Cost at December 31, 
2019 8,192 20,989 2,916 2,496 3,747 97,794 1,592 – – 1,775 1,164 140,665 

 
The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on value in use calculations as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Goodwill related to Delivery Club in the amount of RUR 6,179 was reclassified into assets held for sale as of June 30, 2019 and subsequently 
disposed of as a result of O2O JV formation. For details please refer to Note 6.10. 
 
Goodwill related to ESforce in the amount of RUR 5,000 was reclassified into assets held for sale as of June 30, 2019 and subsesuently 
remeasured. For details please refer to Note 6.2.  
 
Value in use 
 
At December 31, 2019, value in use was determined using cash flow projections from financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior 
management covering a seven to nine-year periods. The nine-year period was taken as the basis because the Group expects that the growth rates 
of the Russian Internet market will exceed the terminal growth rates in the four-year period following the first five years of forecast. The Group 
used the cash flow projections based on financial forecasts over a period longer than five years as it is confident that these projections are reliable 
and accurate. 
 
The major assumptions used in the DCF models at December 31, 2018 are presented below: 
 

  Email, Portal 
and IM Social Networks Online Games Search E-commerce Vkontakte Pixonic DeliveryClub ESforce 

Terminal growth rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 4.0% 5.0% 
Pre-tax discount rate 17.1% 17.2% 17.5% 17.0% 4.5% 16.9% 16.1% 15.4% 22.3% 
 
The major assumptions used in the DCF models at December 31, 2019 are presented below: 
 

  Email, Portal 
and IM Social Networks Online Games Search 

E-commerce 
and EdTech Vkontakte Pixonic Skillbox 

Terminal growth rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 
Pre-tax discount rate 16.8% 17.6% 16.8% 16.1% 18.7% 17.0% 16.1% 20.4% 
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12 Trade accounts receivable (continued)  
 
Trade receivables not impaired as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are presented below: 
 

  
Total 

Ageing of receivables (days) 

  <90 >90 

As of December 31, 2019    
Trade accounts receivable 12,288 11,625 663 
As of December 31, 2018 

   

Trade accounts receivable 9,916 9,401 515 
 
The accounts receivable balances as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 mainly represented amounts due from online electronic payment systems 
and advertising customers. 
 
The trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in RUR on a 40-90 days basis. There is no requirement for collateral to 
receive credit. 
 
Management considers that the carrying amount of the receivable balances approximated their fair value as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
 
13 Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits 
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following: 
 

     Currency December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Current accounts and cash on hand: USD 917 1,468 
 RUR 1,692 1,436 
 EUR 1,501 977 
 Other 3 3 

Cash attributable to assets held for sale  (43) – 

Total current accounts and cash on hand  4,070 3,884 

Deposit accounts with an original maturity of three months or less: USD 680 834 
  RUR 5,032 7,005 

Total deposit accounts with an original maturity of three months or less  5,712 7,839 

Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits  9,782 11,723 
 
 
14 Share capital 
 
14.1 Charter capital and share issues 
 
The charter capital of the Company consisted of 208,582,082 ordinary shares and 11,500,100 Class A shares with USD 0.000005 par value each as 
of December 31, 2019, while the number of authorised shares of the Company as of the same date consisted of 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares and 
10,000,000,000 Class A shares. GDRs representing 126,979 shares of the Company were held in treasury by the Group as of December 31, 2019. 
 
The charter capital of the Company consisted of 208,582,082 ordinary shares and 11,500,100 Class A shares with USD 0.000005 par value each as 
of December 31, 2018, while the number of authorised shares of the Company as of the same date consisted of 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares and 
10,000,000,000 Class A shares. GDRs representing 157,371 shares of the Company were held in treasury by the Group as of December 31, 2018. 
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 all issued shares were fully paid. 
 
Rights attached to the share classes as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
 
The Class A shares and the ordinary shares rank pari passu in all respects, but constitute separate classes of shares, i.e. each and every ordinary 
share and Class A share has the following rights: 

(i) the right to an equal share in any dividend or other distribution paid by the Company to the holders of the shares, pari passu with all other  
Class A shares and ordinary shares; and, for the avoidance of doubt, any dividend or other distribution may only be declared and paid by the 
Company to the holders of the Class A shares and the ordinary shares together, and not to the holders of one of those classes of shares 
only; 

(ii) the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company pari passu with all other ordinary shares and Class A 
shares upon the winding up of the Company. 

 
Each Class A share has the right to twenty five votes and each ordinary share has the right to one vote at a meeting of members of the Company or 
on any resolution of members of the Company. 
 
For additional details on the options over the shares of the Company outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, refer to Note 24.  
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14 Share capital (continued)  
 
14.2  GDR buying programme 
 
Starting 2011, the Trustee commenced a GDR buying programme in order to cover a part of the employee and director options. Under the GDR 
buying programme, the Trustee acquires GDRs representing shares of the Company and will subsequently transfer the GDRs to the respective 
option holders upon the exercise of the options. The Trustee intends to hold the GDRs to be used over the next seven years.  
 
During 2019 the Trustee acquired a total of 572,437 GDRs on the market for an aggregate consideration of RUR 896. The Group accounts for GDRs 
repurchased as treasury shares. 
 
In December 2018 an additional extension of the RSU 2017 Plan for 2,000,000 units and acquisition of required number of GDRs on the market 
were approved. 
 
 
15 Other assets 
 
The table below represents other non-current assets: 
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Advances for royalties – 1,176 
Advance under office lease contract 115 398 

Total other non-current assets 115 1,574 

 
In a number of non-cash transactions, the Group disposed certain MMO games titles including advances for royalty of RUR 1,176 and obtained 
equity investment in Modern Pick with carrying value of RUR 551. The Group recognised gain of RUR 400 as a result of these transactions. 
 
 
16 Other payables and accrued expenses 
 
Other payables and accrued expenses consist of:  
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Payables to personnel 2,482 2,140 
Accrued vacations 1,314 1,046 
Accrued professional consulting expenses 71 41 
Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 6, Note 22) 5,472 1,997 
Deferred consideration on formation of joint ventures (Note 6, Note 22) 5,076 – 
Other current payables and provisions 933 386 

Total other payables and accrued expenses 15,348 5,610 

 
 
17 Revenue 
 
The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are more detailed than under previous standard. As required for consolidated financial 
statements disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2019, based on the Group’s segment 
reporting (Note 5) is presented below: 

 
Communications and 

Social  Games New initiatives Eliminations Group 

Revenue      
External revenue 50,313 30,551 6,206 – 87,070 
Intersegment revenue 208 118 27 (353) – 

Total revenue 50,521 30,669 6,233 (353) 87,070 

Services transferred at a point in time 40,969 4,299 4,242 (353) 49,157 
Services transferred over time 9,552 26,370 1,991 – 37,913 
 
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended December 31, 2018 based on the Group’s segment reporting (Note 5) 
is presented below: 
  

Communications and 
Social  Games New initiatives Eliminations Group 

Revenue      
External revenue 43,575 24,841 2,748 – 71,164 
Intersegment revenue 191 4 1 (196) – 

Total revenue 43,766 24,845 2,749 (196) 71,164 

Services transferred at a point in time 35,562 2,119 1,920 (196) 39,405 
Services transferred over time 8,204 22,726 829 – 31,759 
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18 Income tax 
 
The business activity of the Group and its associates is subject to taxation in multiple jurisdictions, including: 
 
The Russian Federation  
 
The Group’s subsidiaries and associates incorporated in the Russian Federation are subject to corporate income tax at the standard rate of 20% 
applied to their taxable income. Withholding tax of 15% is applied to any dividends paid out of Russia, reduced to as low as 5% for some countries 
(including Cyprus), with which Russia has double-tax treaties. 
 
Cyprus 
 
The Company and the Group’s subsidiaries and associates incorporated or tax residents in Cyprus are subject to a 12.5% corporate income tax 
applied to their worldwide income. Capital gains derived from sale of securities are tax exempt (except for capital gains realised in connection with 
sale of shares in companies deriving their value or the greater part of their value from immovable property located in Cyprus). Dividend income is 
also tax exempt. 
 
British Virgin Islands 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries and associates incorporated in the British Virgin Islands are exempt from all taxes under the respective laws, 
unless they become tax residents in other jurisdictions. 
 
United States of America 
 
The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the USA are subject to federal corporate income tax at standard rates of up to 35% applied to their 
taxable income.  
 
The Netherlands 
 
The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Netherlands are subject to corporate income tax at a standard rate of 25% applied to their taxable 
income. Dividend income and capital gains received by the Dutch subsidiaries are exempt from the corporate income (participation exemption).  
 
The major components of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 

Current income tax expense 3,370 3,067 
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 58 (2,521) 

Total income tax expense 3,428 546 

 
The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by domestic rates applicable to individual Group entities for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

  2019 2018 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 22,279 (7,517) 
Tax at domestic rates applicable to individual group entities (4,934) 1,103 
Non-deductible expenses (485) (1,723) 
Non-taxable foreign exchange and other gains 3,618 559 
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year (119) 135 
Effect of changes in tax rates (393) – 
Tax accruals and penalties (45) (42) 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets (539) (618) 
Effect of reameasurement of assets held for sale (565) – 
Other 34 40 

Total income tax expense (3,428) (546) 

 
The majority of our taxable profits as well as income tax expenses in 2019 and 2018 are generated in Russia. Pre-tax gains and losses in other 
jurisdictions in 2019 mostly relate to share based payment expenses, fair value revaluation, foreign exchange gains and losses, and other similar 
items which are generally non-taxable (non-deductible) in those jurisdictions. These items affect pre-tax profit, but do not have an influence on 
income tax expense, which has an effect on the blended tax rate.  
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18 Income tax (continued)  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are summarised below: 
 

  Consolidated statement of financial position Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 2019 2018 

Deferred tax liabilities arising from:     
Intangible assets book basis in excess of tax basis (2,634) (3,002) 381 804 
Basis of investment in associate in excess of tax basis 12 – 12 47 
Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries (10) (7) (4) (6) 
Other (725) (579) (121) (229) 
Deferred tax liabilities netting 1,071 1,183 – – 
Related to assets held for sale 105 – – – 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,181) (2,405) 268 616 

Deferred tax assets arising from:     
Tax credit carryforwards 735 1,733 1,423 698 
Deferred compensation and accrued employee benefits 673 549 133 172 
Accrued expenses 461 336 40 64 
Revenue recognition 972 3,107 (1,965) 1,054 
Unrealised intercompany profit 105 105 – (56) 
Other 204 146 43 (27) 
Deferred tax assets netting (1,071) (1,183) – – 
Related to assets held for sale (305) – – – 

Total deferred tax assets 1,774 4,793 (326) 1,905 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (407) 2,388 (58) 2,521 

 
The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised, aggregate to 
RUR 79,968 (2018: RUR 79,659).  
 
Changes in net deferred tax liabilities from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2019 were as follows: 

  2019 2018 

Total deferred income tax liabilities, net at January 1 2,388 (216) 
Translation reserve (27) 86 
Effect of disposal of subsidiary (2,502) – 
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit (29) 2,554 
Effect of acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 6) (72) (36) 
Assets held for sale (165) – 

Total deferred income tax assets/(liabilities), net at December 31 (407) 2,388 

 
 
19 EPS 
 
19.1 Basic EPS 
 
Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing earnings/loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary and Class A shares outstanding during the year. 
 

  2019 2018 

Net profit/(loss)attributable to equity holders of the Company 18,686 (7,991) 

Weighted average number of ordinary and class A shares in issued and outstanding 216,694,354 213,798,296 

Basic EPS (RUR per share) 86 (37) 

 
19.2 Diluted EPS 
 
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary and Class A shares outstanding by the assumption of the 
conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options and RSUs granted by the Company (collectively forming the 
denominator for computing the diluted EPS). 
 
For share options and RSUs, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the 
share options and RSUs. The above number is added to the denominator as an issue of ordinary shares for no consideration. Net profit/loss 
attributable to equity holders of the parent (numerator) is adjusted for the charge that would arise if equity settlement took place.  
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19 EPS (continued)  
 
19.2 Diluted EPS (continued)  
 
The calculation of diluted EPS is summarised in the table below:  
 
  2019 2018 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company 18,686 (7,991) 
Adjustment for the gains from cash setlled option (111) (82) 

Adjusted net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company 18,575 (8,073) 

Weighted average number of ordinary and class A shares in issue and outstanding 216,694,354 213,798,296 
Effect of equity-settled share based payments of the Company 2,466,961 2,844,785 

Total diluted weighted average number of shares 219,161,315 216,643,081 

Diluted EPS (RUR per share) 85 n/a 

 
 
20 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks 
 
20.1 Operating environment of the Group 
 
Most of the Group’s operations are in Russia. Russia continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as 
required by a market economy. The future stability of the Russian economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and the 
effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government. 
 
The Russian economy has been negatively impacted by sanctions imposed on Russia by a number of countries. The Rouble interest rates remained 
high. The combination of the above resulted in reduced access to capital, a higher cost of capital and uncertainty regarding economic growth, which 
could negatively affect the Group’s future financial position, results of operations and business prospects. Management believes it is taking 
appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current circumstances. 
 
20.2 Taxation  
 
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which can occur frequently. Management's 
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal 
authorities. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation 
of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be 
challenged. As such, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in 
respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.  
 
Management estimates that possible exposure in relation to the aforementioned risks, as well as other profits tax and non-profits tax risks (e.g. 
imposition of additional VAT liabilities), that are more than remote, but for which no liability is required to be recognized under IFRS, could be few 
times as high as income tax payable and VAT and other taxes payable reflected in the statement of financial position at that date. This estimation is 
provided for the IFRS requirement for disclosure of possible taxes and should not be considered as an estimate of the Group’s future tax liability. 
 
20.3  Legal proceedings 
 
The Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and adjudications from time to time, none of which has had, individually or 
in the aggregate, a material adverse impact on the Group. Management believes that the resolution of all current and potential legal matters will 
not have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial position or operating results. 
 
20.4 Managing Joint Ventures 
 
To pursue our strategic development goals we entered into joint venture agreements with third parties in ecommerce and online-to-offline (O2O) 
segments. Failure to successfully develop new businesses and to operate those in a sustainable and efficient manner could cause us to face 
unanticipated liabilities and harm our overall financial results. 
 
20.5 Private information 
 
To become registered on a website operated by the Group, users have to input their personal data, which is then protected by the Group from 
access by third parties. Should such data become available to third parties as a result of hackers’ attacks, the Group may become a party to 
litigation from its users. Management believes it takes all necessary steps to reduce the related risk to an acceptable level. 
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20 Commitments, contingencies and operating risks (continued)  
 
20.6 Intellectual property rights 
 
The Group may be subject to infringement claims from third parties in the future resulting from the technology and intellectual property used in the 
provision and marketing of its services. If the Group is found liable for infringement, it may be required to pay significant damages, and if it is 
unable to license or develop non-infringing technology on a timely basis, it may be unable to continue offering the affected services without risk of 
liability. Similarly, third parties may obtain and use the Group’s intellectual property without authorisation. The validity, application, enforceability 
and scope of protection of intellectual property rights for many Internet-related activities are uncertain and still evolving, which may make it more 
difficult for the Group to protect its intellectual property and could have a material effect on its business, results of operations and financial 
condition. The Group has been subject to such proceedings. Although none of them was individually significant, similar potential claims may subject 
the Group to significant losses in the future, which currently cannot be reliably estimated.  
 
20.7 Development 
 
A failure to innovate, to provide popular products and services or to react quickly to changes in the market could affect the popularity of the 
Group’s sites and, in turn, could affect the Group`s revenue. An inability to develop competitive products and services which are compatible with 
new mobile devices could result in a failure to capture a significant share of an increasingly important market. 
 
20.8 Regulation 
 
The Internet and its associated technologies are subject to government regulation. Substantial part of Group’s business is subject to Russian laws. 
 
On January 1, 2019 the Russian law on aggregators of goods and services came into force. Such law introduced obligations of aggregators to 
disclose certain information on the goods and services and on the seller of goods and the provider of services. The law determined liability of 
aggregators for causing damages to a buyer of goods or services by providing false information to the buyer. 
 
On March 18, 2019 new law came into force banning publishing “fake news” and information showing “disrespect” to government bodies in mass 
media and internet. In March 2019 a law aimed at increasing Russian “sovereignty” over Russian internet has been adopted with effective date 
November 1, 2019 and certain provisions to come into force on January 1, 2021. The law seeks to create national system of routing web traffic and 
proposes building a national domain name system to allow the internet to continue functioning even if Russia is cut off from foreign infrastructure. 
 
The Group is also subject to other various specific Russian laws, such as so called Anti-Piracy Law, Anti-extremism Law, Black List Law etc. 
Non-compliance with the applicable regulations could lead to penalties or blocking of non-compliant services. The Group complies with the existing 
and new laws in all material respect. 
 
20.9 Personnel 
 
As competition in Russia’s internet industry increases, the Group’s business and operations could be adversely affected by difficulties in hiring, 
motivating and retaining highly-skilled people. Competition for senior managers is high. One or more could join a competitor, or set-up a competing 
company, with the result that operations and profitability could be affected by a loss of strategic direction, users, know-how and additional staff. 
 
20.10 Infrastructure and capacity 
 
If the infrastructure in Russia were not able to support increased demand, the Group’s services could be interrupted or the Group’s systems 
damaged. A limited availability of third-party providers of network and server capacity could limit the Group’s ability to offer certain services or to 
expand. Network or power failures could result in the loss of data and in a reduction in the number of users, which could have a material effect on 
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
 
21 Balances and transactions with related parties 
 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year, 
excluding Directors and key management of the Group (see Notes 21.2 and 21.3). All related party transactions were made in accordance with 
contractual terms and conditions agreed between the parties. Other entities represents other than equity accounted associates (Note 3.18).  
 

  Sales to related parties 
Purchases from  
related parties 

Amounts owed by  
related parties 

Amounts owed to  
related parties 

2019     
Equity accounted associates 1,212 208 795 202 
Joint ventures 442 1 1,040 10,651 
Other entities 705 1,313 629 15,050 
2018     
Equity accouned associates 1,156 574 305 136 
Joint ventures – – – – 
Other entities 1,124 22 833 7 
 
All related party transactions were made in accordance with contractual terms and conditions agreed between the parties. 
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21 Balances and transactions with related parties (continued)  
 
21.1 The ultimate controlling party 
 
Starting October 18, 2018, no single shareholder of JSC MF Technologies is entitled solely to nominate 5 directors to the Company’s Board of 
Directors at its discretion. As such, starting from that date, the Group does not have an ultimate controlling party.  
 
21.2 Directors of the Company 
 
Total cash remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors (each a “Director” and collectively, “Directors”) of the Company amounted to 
RUR 107 for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: RUR 144). In 2019 no RSUs or options over the shares of the Company were granted to 
Directors (2018: nil RSUs). During the year ended December 31, 2019, Directors did not forfeit any RSUs or options (2018: nil) and exercised 2,500 
options (2018: 2,500). The corresponding share-based payment expense was a negative RUR 31 for year ended December 31, 2019  
(2018: negative 49). 
 
21.3 Key management of the Group 
 
Total cash remuneration of the key management of the Group (excluding Directors) amounted to RUR 843 for the year ended December 31, 2019 
(2018: 563). In addition to the cash remuneration for the year ended December 31, 2019, key executive employees of the Group were granted 
1,280,000 RSUs out of 2017 RSU Plan (2018: 200,000). During the year ended December 31, 2019, key management of the Group (excluding 
Directors) did not forfeit any options (2018: nil) and exercised 1,268,750 RSU`s and options over shares of the Company (2018: 3,082,500). In Q4 
2018 3,535,000 RSUs held by key management of the Company were accelerated. The corresponding share-based payment expense amounted to 
RUR 583 for year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: 3,405). 
 
 
22 Financial instruments 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments approximated their fair values as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and are 
presented by category of financial instruments in the table below: 
 
  Category* December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss    
Non-current    

Financial investments in venture capital investees FAFVPL 673 256 
Derivative financial assets over the equity of investee FAFVPL 110 92 
Convertible loans FAFVPL 452 1,167 
Financial derivative under lease contract FAFVPL 514 500 

Current    
Derivative financial assets over the equity of investee FAFVPL 3 2 
Convertible loans FAFVPL 87 1,070 

Financial assets at amortised cost    
Trade accounts receivable FAAC 12,288 9,916 
Loans and interest receivable FAAC 941 145 
Cash and cash equivalents FAAC 9,782 11,723 

Total financial assets    24,850 24,871 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss    
Current    

Contingent consideration liabilities (Note 6, Note 16) FLFVPL 5,472 1,997 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  –  
Current    

Trade accounts payable, other payables and accrued expenses FLAC 17,739 11,876 
Short-term portion of long-term interest-bearing loans FLAC 4,044 – 
Short-term lease liabilities FLAC 3,153 – 

Non-current    
Long-term interest-bearing loans FLAC 19,474 – 
Non-current lease liabilities FLAC 1,568 – 

Total financial liabilities   51,450 13,873 
 
*  Financial instruments used by the Group are included in one of the following categories: 

– FAFVPL – financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 
– FLFVPL – financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; 
– FAAC – financial assets at amortised cost; or 
– FLAC – financial liabilities at amortised cost.  
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22 Financial instruments (continued)  
 
22.2 Fair value hierarchy (continued)  
 

  December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:     
Financial investments in venture capital investees 256 – – 256 
Convertible loans 2,237 – – 2,237 
Financial derivative under lease contract 500 – – 500 
Derivative financial assets over the equity of investee 94 – – 94 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,087 – – 3,087 

Total financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 3,087 – – 3,087 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit 
or loss     
Contingent consideration liabilities 1,997 – – 1,997 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 1,997 – – 1,997 

 
The balance of Level 3 measurements as of January 1, 2019 is reconciled to the balance of those measurements as of December 31, 2019 as 
follows: 

  
Balance as of 

January 1, 
2019 

Gains/(losses) 
recognized in 

profit and loss 

Foreign 
exchange 

gains/(losses) 
Purchases/ 
settlement 

Convertible 
loan execution  

Recognition of 
deposit 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2019 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss        

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:        
Financial investments in venture capital investees 256 (139) (29) 484 101 – 673 
Derivative financial assets over the equity of investee 94 (90) – 109 – – 113 
Convertible loans 2,237 (468) – 1,508 (2,738) – 539 
Financial assets and derivatives under lease contracts 500 (245) – – – 259 514 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,087 (942) (29) 2,101 (2,637) 259 1,839 

Financial liability measured at fair value through profit or 
loss        

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 
contingent consideration liabilities (1,997) 45 132 (3,652) – – (5,472) 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (1,997) 45 132 (3,652) – – (5,472) 

 
 

  
Balance as of 

January 1, 
2018 

Gains/(losses) 
recognized in 

profit and loss 

Foreign 
exchange 

gains/(losses) Purchases 

Acqusition of 
control in 
investees 

Acquisition of 
significant 

influence in 
investee 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2018 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss        

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:        
Financial investments in venture capital investees 264 26 5 72 (111) – 256 
Derivative financial assets over the equity of investee 122 275 – 3 (11) (295) 94 
Convertible loans – (626) – 3,006 – (143) 2,237 
Financial derivatives under lease and hosting contracts 150 350 – – – – 500 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 536 25 5 3,081 (122) (438) 3,087 

Financial liability measured at fair value through profit or 
loss        

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 
contingent consideration liabilities – (515) (257) (1,225) – – (1,997) 

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss – (515) (257) (1,225) – – (1,997) 
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22 Financial instruments (continued)  
 
22.3  Interest-bearing loans 
 
In 2019 the Group raised several loans in the total amount of RUR 23,500 (net of loan origination fees of RUR 117) for funding increasing M&A 
activity. All loans are unsecured. The loan agreements contain restrictive financial and non-financial covenants that the Group as the borrower is 
obliged to fulfil. Restrictive covenants include maintaining certain financial ratios. As of December 31, 2019 all restrictive covenants are met.  
The table below represents the major loans as of December 31, 2019: 
 

  Original currency Interest rate Maturity date 
Outstanding principal amount as of 

December 31,2019 

Sberbank RUR 6.5 bln loan RUR 7.5% October 6, 2023 6,500 
Sberbank RUR 8.5 bln loan RUR 7.0% December 7, 2023 8,500 
Raiffeisen bank loan RUR 9.0% March 6, 2023 8,500 
 
 
23 Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
23.1 Introduction 
 
The Group’s principal financial liabilities mainly comprise a contingent consideration liability and trade accounts payable. The main purposes of 
these financial liabilities are to finance the Group’s operations and, in the case of the contingent consideration, a business acquisition. The Group 
has short-term receivables, short-term time deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other current financial assets that arise directly from the 
Group’s operations.  
 
The Group also has a venture capital investment portfolio consisting of equity investments in Internet start-ups and smaller Internet companies and 
derivative contracts over the equity of the Group’s venture capital investees.  
 
The Group also has a venture capital investment portfolio consisting of equity investments in Internet start-ups and smaller Internet companies and 
derivative contracts over the equity of the Group’s venture capital investees.  
 
The Group’s senior management is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. These activities are supervised by the Board of Directors, the 
Group’s governing body that is ultimately responsible for the Group’s overall approach to risk management. The Board of Directors is developing 
risk management policies covering the following major aspects: identification and analysis of the risks the Group faces, setting appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and monitoring risks and adherence to limits. Risk management procedures and systems are contemplated to be reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and responsibilities. 
 
The Group’s Audit Committee has been established to oversee, inter alia, how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management practices and procedures when these are approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
23.2 Liquidity and financial resources 
 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Group 
monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. Management regularly monitors projected and actual cash flow information, 
analyzes the repayment schedules of the existing financial assets and liabilities and performs annual detailed budgeting procedures. 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of operating cash flows, bank loans and 
overdrafts. Other financial liabilities of the Group are mostly represented by trade payables with maturity less than one year. 
 
The contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities are presented below: 
       
Year ended December 31, 2019  Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 3 years > 3 years Total 

Short-term and long-term interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 708 3,336 14,526 4,948 23,518 

Trade accounts payable 7,863 – – – 7,863 
Current and non-current lease liabilities 966 2,403 1,608 291 5,268 
Contingent consideration liabilities – 5,472 – – 5,472 
Other payables, accrued expenses 4,800 5,076 – – 9,876 

Total financial liablities 14,337 16,287 16,134 5,239 51,997 

 
Year ended December 31, 2018 Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 3 years > 3 years Total 

Trade accounts payable 8,263 – – – 8,263 
Contingent consideration liabilities – 1,997 – – 1,997 
Other payables, accrued expenses 3,613  – – 3,613 

Total financial liablities 11,876 1,997 – – 13,873 
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23 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)  
 
23.3 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. 
 
Financial assets, which potentially subject the Company and its subsidiaries and associates to credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term time deposits, short-term receivables and convertible loans. The total of these account balances represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
The Group places its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, which are considered at the time of deposit to have minimal 
risk of default. The Group does not require collateral or other security to support the financial instruments subject to credit risk. Accounts 
receivable from the two largest customers collectively represented 12% of total trade accounts receivable of the Group as of December 31, 2019 
and 12% as of December 31, 2018. No customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in 2019 or 2018. The Group provides credit payment 
terms to its customers in accordance with market practices and based on thorough review of the customer’s profile and creditworthiness. Although 
collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no significant risk of loss beyond the 
allowance already recorded. 
 
23.4 Capital management policy 
 
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the 
equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise the shareholder value. The Group manages 
its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions.  
 
23.5 Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The 
market risks the Group is exposed to comprise two types of risk: currency risk (Note 23.6) and equity risk. The Group’s financial instruments 
affected by market risk include payables, cash and cash equivalents, short-term time deposits, financial investments in associates and derivative 
financial instruments. The Group’s equity risk arises from uncertainties about future values of the investment into unlisted securities.  
 
23.6 Foreign currency risk 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD and EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held 
constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. The Group’s exposure to 
foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material. 
 
  Change in USD rate 

(Negative)/Positive effect 
on profit before tax 

2019 `+15% (681) 
 `-15% 681 
2018 `+14% (456) 
 `-14% 456 
 
  Change in EUR rate 

(Negative)/Positive effect 
on profit before tax 

2019 `+20% 397 
 `-20% (397) 
2018 `+15% 12 
 `-15% (12) 
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24 Share-based payments (continued)  
 
24.1 Share-based payment arrangements of the Company (continued)  
 
The weighted-average share price was USD 23.51 for options and RSUs exercised in 2019 and USD 27.59 for options and RSUs exercised in 2018 
 
The range of exercise prices for options and RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 is presented in the table below: 
 

Exercise price   December 31, 2019   December 31, 2018  

– 3,982,670 3,101,093 
17.5 808,917 782,167 
19.6 755,755 766,755 

 
24.1.3 Valuations of share-based payments  
 
The valuations of all equity-settled options and RSUs granted during 2018 and 2019 are summarised in the table below: 
 

Option plan/Grant date Number of options 
Share price Fair value, total Fair value per option 

(USD) (million RUR) (RUR) 

2011 Option Plan/ 2018 390,000 21.54-27.96 353 905 
2017 RSU Plan / 2018 962,293 22.38-35.54 1,676 1,742 
2011 Option Plan/ 2019 180,000 22.20-23.70 102 568 
2017 RSU Plan / 2019 2,758,000 19.01-26.26 4,389 1,591 
 
The valuations of all cash-settled options as of December 31, 2019 are summarised in the table below: 
 

Number of options 
Dividend yield Volatility, 

Risk-free interest 
rate, Expected term, Share price Fair value, total Fair value per option 

Valuation method % % % years (USD) (million RUR) (RUR) 

435,980 0% 33% 1.67% N/A 22.30 185 423 Binomial 
 
The forfeiture rate used for expenses calculation in 2019 is 0.1-16.0%. It is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily 
indicative of forfeiture patterns that may occur. 
 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to the life of the options/RSUs is indicative of future 
trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 
 
24.2 Share-based payment expense 
 
The Group recognised RUR 1,742 in share-based payment expenses in the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: RUR 6,732), including RUR 1,826 
(2018: 6,918) related to equity-settled share-based payments and negative change related to cash-settled portion of RUR 84 (2018: negative 186). 
The expense was included under “Personnel expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. According to the terms of 2017 
RSU Plan the change of control results in immediate acceleration of related RSUs. The total expense related to such acceleration recognized in Q4 
2018 is RUR 3.7 bln (3,166,250 RSUs). 
 
 
25 Events after the reporting period 
 
There were no events after the reporting period to be separately reported. 


	6.3 BitGames, 33 Slona and InShopper
	6.4 Citymobil
	22.3  Interest-bearing loans

